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STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION 

(A) The district court had original jurisdiction over the subject 

matter of the case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1337 because it 

arises under the statutes and laws of the United States, specifically 

pursuant to the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 15 and 26, for violations of 

the Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 1 and 2), as well 

as under the federal Racketeering Influenced and Corrupt 

Organizations Act (RICO) (18 U.S.C. § 1961, et seq.). The district court 

had supplemental jurisdiction over the state law unjust enrichment 

claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367. 

(B) This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C.  

§ 1291, in that this is an appeal from a final decision of the district 

court disposing of all claims of all parties.  

(C) The appeal in this matter was filed with the district court on 

December 30, 2019, and is timely because it was filed within 30 days 

after the district court’s entry of its Stipulation and Final Judgment 

and Order on December 6, 2019. 
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ISSUES PRESENTED 

(1) Whether the district court erred in concluding that  

Plaintiffs did not state claims for illegal tying under Section 1 of the 

Sherman Act when Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged Defendant American 

Board of Internal Medicine (“ABIM”) illegally ties two separate 

products. A-33. 

(2) Whether the district court erred in concluding that Plaintiffs 

did not state claims for monopolization under Section 2 of the Sherman 

Act when Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged that ABIM engaged in a range of 

anticompetitive conduct, including but not limited to tying. A-36-37. 

(3) Whether the district court erred in concluding that Plaintiffs 

did not state a claim under RICO when Plaintiffs sufficiently alleged 

they were directly harmed by ABIM’s scheme to defraud. A-39-40. 

(4) Whether the district court erred in concluding Plaintiffs did 

not state a claim for unjust enrichment when Plaintiffs sufficiently 

alleged that ABIM forced Plaintiffs and other internists to buy MOC.  

A-41. 
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STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES AND PROCEEDINGS  

This case has never previously been before this Court. No 

proceedings remain pending in the district court. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

I. RELEVANT FACTS 

Defendant American Board of Internal Medicine (“ABIM”) has 

sold certifications to new residency program graduates since 1936. (¶ 

22). 1  Certifications assess postgraduate medical education and 

training obtained through successful completion of residency programs. 

(¶ 21). Because no other vendor sells certifications, ABIM is the 

monopoly supplier. (¶¶ 2, 50, 51). Certifications are the tying product in 

Plaintiffs’ claims under the Sherman Act. (¶ 3).  

ABIM announced in 1990, that beginning in 2000 it would start 

selling maintenance of certification (“MOC”) and told internists their 

certifications would be revoked unless they bought MOC. (¶¶ 4, 26-27, 

44, 49, 61). According to ABIM’s Form 990 filed with the Internal 

 
1      References to “¶ ___” are to paragraphs of the Amended Class 
Action Complaint (“Complaint”), included in the Appendix at A-42-92.  
After ABIM began selling MOC it changed its terminology for 
certifications and began referring to them as “initial certifications.” The 
district court referred to “ABIM certification” and Plaintiffs likewise 
refer herein to “certifications” and “MOC.” 
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Revenue Service (“IRS”), MOC “means something different” from 

certifications and “speaks to the question of whether or not an internist 

is staying current.” (¶ 53). MOC is the tied product in Plaintiffs’ claims 

under the Sherman Act. (¶ 4).  

The forerunner to MOC, named “Continuous Professional 

Development Program” (“CPD”), was launched by ABIM in 1974. (¶ 25). 

This first CPD product was also meant to keep internists current, but 

was voluntary and ABIM did not revoke certifications if internists did 

not purchase it. (Id.). After several years of meager sales, ABIM re-

branded its CPD product as MOC and began selling it in 2000, making 

it mandatory. (¶¶ 26-27). 2 

ABIM has carved out an exception for “grandfathered” internists 

who bought certifications before 1990, and who are not required to buy 

MOC to keep their certifications. (¶¶ 27-28). About 40% of internists, 

approximately 80,000 doctors, have been “grandfathered” by ABIM from 

the requirement to buy MOC. (¶¶ 5, 29). All other internists, however, 

are forced to purchase MOC throughout their careers or have their 

 
2      ABIM has changed MOC constantly over the years, increasing the 
burden and cost to internists. (¶¶ 31-34). 
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certifications revoked. (¶¶ 4, 26, 30, 37, 42, 61, 65, 68, 69, 71). 

“Grandfathers” may voluntarily buy MOC, but those who do so and fail 

to satisfy MOC’s requirements do not have their certifications revoked 

by ABIM. (¶ 35). 3 

ABIM sells certifications and MOC separately and charges 

for them separately. (¶¶ 3, 4, 21, 30, 34, 52, 64, 143-144). New residency 

program graduates pay a one-time certification fee to ABIM upon 

graduation, and then later pay separate MOC fees throughout the 

remainder of their careers. (Id). Certification and MOC are not 

interchangeable or a component of one another. (¶ 52).  

Certifications are an economic necessity, without which a 

successful medical career is impossible. (¶¶ 6, 37, 73, 155). Internists 

whose certifications are revoked by ABIM because they do not buy MOC 

are no longer eligible for admitting and other privileges by hospitals, 

health systems, practice groups, and medical corporations and/or lose 

employment. (¶¶ 37-38, 77-78, 88, 95-96, 109, 155, 166). Internists who 

lose hospital privileges because ABIM revokes their certifications also 

 
3      The ABIM CEO admits, “Grandfathering is a really vexing 
challenge. It’s difficult to defend …” (¶ 27). 
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do not qualify for coverage under the hospital’s malpractice policy and 

must purchase other more expensive insurance with less advantageous 

terms. (¶ 40). 

Internists whose certifications are revoked by ABIM because they 

do not buy MOC are also no longer eligible to participate in insurance 

networks and cannot offer insurance coverage. (¶¶ 37, 39, 87, 95, 98, 

155, 166). Their patients must either pay for treatment themselves or 

pay a higher “out of network” coinsurance rate, to the financial 

detriment of both the patient who must pay higher out-of-pocket costs, 

and the internist whose patient base is smaller due to the inability to 

offer insurance coverage. (¶ 39). 

Other vendors sell products that like MOC keep internists 

current, including continuing medical education (“CME”) products 

required for State medical licensure. (¶¶ 20, 54). MOC differs from 

CME, however, because if internists do not see value in a CME product 

they are free to purchase another CME product; there is no such option 

for MOC because internists are forced to buy MOC or have their 

certifications revoked. (¶ 54). Internists prefer to buy products from 
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others to keep current rather than being forced to buy MOC from 

ABIM. (¶¶ 55, 66). 

The National Board of Physicians and Surgeons (“NBPAS”) also 

sells a CPD product designed to keep internists current. (¶¶ 56-57). 

Like ABIM, NBPAS calls its product maintenance of certification.  

(¶ 56). To buy the NBPAS product, internists must, among other things, 

be ABIM-certified. (¶ 57). The NBPAS product costs significantly less 

than MOC. (Id.). NBPAS does not sell certifications. (¶¶ 56, 58). 

As a result of its monopoly in certifications and forcing internists 

to buy MOC or have their certifications revoked, ABIM is able to charge  

inflated monopoly prices for MOC. (¶¶ 4, 64, 68). MOC fees have 

increased from $759 to $2,250 since ABIM began selling MOC in 2000. 

(¶ 143). This is substantially higher than the cost of CPD products sold 

by others. (¶ 57). One analysis projects that MOC costs internists an 

average of $23,607 in time and money over a ten year period, and that 

“[t]he 2015 MOC is projected to cost $5.7 billion [internal reference 

omitted] over the coming decade,” including time costs resulting from 

32.7 million physician hours. (¶ 36).  
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ABIM accounts for certifications and MOC separately on its 

financial statements. (¶¶ 144-147). MOC revenue almost tripled over 

the eleven years through 2017 to $24,637,595. (¶ 144). In 2006, MOC 

revenue was approximately 54% of certification revenue and about 35% 

of ABIM total revenue; by 2017, MOC revenue increased to 80% of 

certification revenue and 45% of ABIM total revenue. (¶ 145). 4   

ABIM has created a lucrative new revenue source by forcing 

internists to buy MOC. (¶ 148). The new MOC revenue has not been 

used in the interests of the internist community, but to serve the 

economic interests of ABIM management, including overly generous 

compensation, ABIM’s lavish pension plan, and purchase of a $2.3 

million condominium used by ABIM management. (¶¶ 132, 148-153, 

164, 167). 

ABIM falsely claims to the public, including hospitals, medical 

corporations and other employers, insurers, and the media, that MOC 

 
4      These data show certifications are a declining revenue 
source for ABIM, with MOC rapidly replacing it. (¶ 148). This is not 
surprising as new residency program graduates are often burdened 
with substantial debt and can afford only so much in certification fees; 
MOC, on the other hand, is imposed by ABIM on older internists who 
have the financial wherewithal to pay ever-increasing MOC fees. (Id.).  
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benefits physicians, patients, and the public and constitutes self-

regulation. (¶¶ 6, 42-43, 94, 131, 133-135, 154, 166, 167). For example, 

ABIM misrepresents that MOC is “a reliable indicator of physician 

quality,” there is “compelling evidence showing that MOC improves 

value of care without sacrificing quality,” doctors who buy MOC 

“provide better patient care,” and MOC assures the quality of 

physicians and patient safety. (¶¶ 134-135, 168c, 168d). ABIM knows 

these and similar representations are untrue. (¶¶ 136-142, 155-156, 

163). There is no evidence of a causal relationship between MOC and 

any beneficial impact on physicians, patients, or the public. (¶¶ 42-43, 

136). Nor does MOC constitute self-regulation by internists. (¶ 156). 

Plaintiffs brings this Class Action on behalf of all internists who 

are forced by ABIM to buy MOC or have their certifications revoked. 

(¶¶ 7, 114-120). Plaintiffs each purchased certifications and are forced 

by ABIM to buy MOC or have their certifications revoked. (¶¶ 75, 83, 

91, 104). None of the certifications relevant to Plaintiffs’ claims are 

“grandfathered.” (Id.). 5    

 
5      For Plaintiffs’ background and details of their personal claims, see 
Dr. Kenney (¶¶ 13, 74-80), Dr. Joshua (¶¶ 14, 81-89), Dr. Manalo (¶¶ 
15, 90-102), and Dr. Murray-Leisure (¶¶ 16, 103-113).  
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Drs. Kenney and Manalo did not buy MOC and ABIM revoked 

their certifications. (¶¶ 80, 93, 102). Dr. Joshua bought MOC but did 

not pass a MOC test and ABIM revoked her certification. (¶ 85). Dr. 

Murray-Leisure bought MOC, did not pass a MOC test, and ABIM 

revoked her certification, but she passed later and ABIM reinstated her 

certification. (¶¶ 109, 111). 

In addition to money damages, Plaintiffs ask that ABIM be 

enjoined from revoking certifications of internists who do not buy MOC. 

(¶ 7). Plaintiffs do not contend ABIM should be prevented from 

determining its own standards, or be required to accept any other CPD 

product as a substitute for certifications or MOC. There is no legitimate 

business or pro-competitive justification for ABIM’s tying of 

certifications and MOC. (¶ 124).  

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY 

 Plaintiffs-Appellants filed their Class Action Complaint against 

Defendant-Appellee ABIM on December 19, 2018, in the Eastern 

District of Pennsylvania, alleging violations of Sections 1 and 2 of the 

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1, 2. Dkt. 1. On January 24, 2019, Plaintiffs 

filed an Amended Class Action Complaint adding claims for violation of 
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RICO, 18 U.S.C. § 1962(c), and unjust enrichment. A-42-92. ABIM 

moved to dismiss all counts of the Amended Complaint under Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). Dkt. 22. On September 26, 2019, the 

district court issued a Memorandum opinion granting ABIM’s motion to 

dismiss. A-7-41. By stipulation of the parties, a final judgment was 

entered on December 6, 2019. A-4. Plaintiffs filed their Notice of Appeal 

to this Court on December 30, 2019. A-1. 

III. RULING PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 The ruling presented for review in this Court is the district court’s 

granting of ABIM’s motion to dismiss and dismissal of all counts of the 

Amended Class Action Complaint. A-7-41.     

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Plaintiffs allege ABIM violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act by 

illegally tying certifications (the tying product) and MOC (the tied 

product). Certifications are sold to new residency program graduates 

and assess postgraduate medical education and training. MOC, on the 

other hand, according to ABIM, “means something different” from 

certifications and “speaks to the question of whether or not an internist 

is staying current.”  
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ABIM is the monopoly seller of certifications and if internists do 

not buy MOC, ABIM revokes their certifications. Internists whose 

certifications are revoked by ABIM because they do not buy MOC are no 

longer eligible for hospital admitting and other privileges, employment, 

insurance coverage, and other requirements necessary for the successful 

practice of medicine. ABIM uses its monopoly power over certifications 

to force internists to buy MOC or have their certifications revoked.   

The district court dismissed the tying claims with prejudice, 

finding that certifications and MOC are not separate products. A-33. 

“Whether one or two products are involved turns … on the character of 

the demand for the two items.” Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. No. 2 v. 

Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 19 (1984). Jefferson Parish and its progeny set forth 

several factual indicia of separate demand governing the separate 

product analysis, and Plaintiffs have alleged facts supporting each such 

indicia. Plaintiffs allege: internists differentiate between certifications 

and MOC; ABIM has always sold them separately; ABIM treats the two 

products as separate; ABIM bills and accounts for certifications and 

MOC separately; and other vendors sell CPD products like MOC that 

keep internists current without selling certifications.  
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The district court ignored these allegations and erroneously 

concluded that certification and MOC are one product. A-29. In doing so 

it arrogated to itself determination of the ultimate factual issue, 

improperly weighed facts, resolved inferences against Plaintiffs, and 

considered “facts” asserted by ABIM outside the Complaint, all of which 

are improper on a motion to dismiss. See Flora v. County of Luzerne, 

776 F.3d 169, 175 (3d Cir. 2015); Kedra v. Schroeter, 876 F.3d 424, 433 

(3d Cir. 2017) ; Sweda v. Univ. of Pa., 923 F.3d 320, 326 (3d Cir. 2019).  

The district court dismissed the Plaintiffs’ monopolization claims 

under Section 2 of the Sherman Act, finding “no anticompetitive 

conduct on the part of ABIM.” A-36. Plaintiffs, however, allege a range 

of anticompetitive conduct by ABIM, in addition to tying, including: 

leveraging its monopoly in certifications; forcing internists to buy MOC; 

thwarting competition; placing market participants on its board of 

directors; waging a campaign of deception about the benefits of MOC; 

constantly making burdensome changes to MOC; monopoly pricing; and 

rendering internists unable to assess lifetime costs of MOC. (¶¶ 4-6, 26-

27, 31-34, 37, 42, 44, 49-51, 55, 57, 59-65, 67-68, 70-71, 73, 127-129, 

133-135).  
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Plaintiffs allege a simple and plausible RICO scheme: in order to 

generate MOC fees, ABIM fraudulently misrepresents MOC to convince 

hospitals, insurers, and others to require internists to buy MOC in 

order to obtain admitting and other privileges, employment, insurance 

coverage, and other requirements of the practice of medicine. The 

district court held Plaintiffs did not have standing because they failed 

adequately to allege that ABIM’s RICO violations proximately caused 

their injuries. A-40.  

Internists, however, are the targets of the RICO scheme, and have 

paid hundreds of millions of dollars in MOC fees to ABIM as a direct 

result of its campaign of deception. Hospitals, insurers, and others to 

whom the fraudulent statements were directed suffer no harm and have 

no reason to pursue claims against ABIM. Because Plaintiffs and other 

internists are the only persons harmed by ABIM’s fraud, their injuries 

are not derivative of any other injury and Plaintiffs’ have sufficiently 

alleged proximate cause. See In re Avandia Mktg., 804 F.3d 633, 643-44 

(3d Cir. 2015). 

The district court held Plaintiffs’ failed to allege one element of 

their unjust enrichment claim, concluding “it is not inequitable for 
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ABIM to keep the benefit [MOC fees] because it did not ‘force’ Plaintiffs 

to purchase MOC.” A-41. Plaintiffs allege, however, that the economic 

reality is that ABIM, by revoking certifications of internists who do not 

buy MOC, render them no longer eligible for admitting and other 

privileges, employment, insurance coverage, and other requirements for 

the successful practice of medicine. Internists, thus, have no choice but 

to buy MOC, although they would prefer to purchase other products 

elsewhere to keep current. ABIM’s inequitable conduct forcing these 

purchases, thus, adequately supports Plaintiffs’ claim for unjust 

enrichment.   

ARGUMENT 

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE 
TYING CLAIMS WITH PREJUDICE. 
     
A.  Standard Of Review. 

   This Court’s “review of a district court's dismissal of a complaint 

for failure to state a claim is plenary.” Broadcom Corp. v. Qualcomm 

Inc., 501 F.3d 297, 306 (3d Cir. 2007). In reviewing a dismissal under 

Rule 12(b)(6), the Court “accept[s] all factual allegations as true, 

construe[s] the complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff, 

and determine[s] whether, under any reasonable reading of the 
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complaint, the plaintiff may be entitled to relief.” Id. (internal citation 

omitted). In doing so, the Court views “reasonable inferences drawn 

from the [allegations] in the light most favorable to [Plaintiffs].” Sweda 

v. Univ. of Pa., 923 F.3d 320, 326 (3d Cir. 2019).  

B. Plaintiffs State A Per Se Tying Claim. 

Tying “is per se illegal.” Eisai, Inc. v. Sanofi Aventis U.S., L.L.C., 

821 F.3d 394, 405 (3d Cir. 2016). The elements of a per se tying claim 

are: “[W]here (1) a defendant seller ties two distinct products; (2) the 

seller possesses market power in the tying product market; and (3) a 

substantial amount of interstate commerce is affected, then the 

defendant’s tying practices are automatically illegal without further 

proof of anticompetitive effect.” Town Sound & Custom Tops, Inc. v. 

Chrysler Motors Corp., 959 F.2d 468, 477 (3d Cir. 1992). 6  It is the 

 
6      The district court enumerated four elements, not three:  
 

“(1) a defendant seller ties two distinct products; (2) the 
purchase of the tying product is conditioned on the sale of 
the tied product; (3) the seller possesses market power in the 
tying product market to coerce purchasers into buying the 
tied product; and (4) a not insubstantial amount of interstate 
commerce is affected.” 
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“probable” exploitation of leverage in the market where the seller 

possesses market power that warrants use of a per se analysis. 

Brokerage Concepts, Inc. v. U.S. Healthcare, Inc., 140 F.3d 494, 512-13 

(3d Cir. 1998). 7 

 Plaintiffs claim ABIM violates Section 1 of the Sherman Act by 

illegally tying certifications and MOC. Neither the district court nor 

ABIM challenged the economic plausibility of Plaintiffs’ tying claim, for 

it makes perfect sense that a monopolist such as ABIM would leverage 

its market power in a tying product (certifications) to gain an advantage 

in a tied product (MOC). See Eastman Kodak Co. v. Image Technical 

Services, Inc., 504 U.S. 451, 478 (1992) (use of monopoly power in tying 

product to gain advantage in tied product “facially anticompetitive”). 

Internists do not purchase MOC because it is better-quality (it 

does not result in better patient care) or is lower-priced (it is more 

 
A-26-27 (internal quotation marks and citations omitted). The second 
element, however, is redundant of the first, and another articulation of 
the required tie.  
 
7     ABIM did not contest for purposes of the motion to dismiss that 
Plaintiffs sufficiently allege it possesses monopoly power in the tying 
product (certifications) and that a substantial amount of interstate 
commerce is affected. (¶¶ 2, 10, 36, 50, 51, 144, 147).    
 

Case: 20-1007     Document: 22-1     Page: 26      Date Filed: 05/04/2020



18 
 

costly) than other CPD products. Internists buy MOC because ABIM 

uses its monopoly power over certifications to present them with a 

Hobson’s choice: either buy MOC from ABIM or have the certifications 

required to successfully practice medicine revoked. This forcing is 

readily apparent from ABIM’s earlier, unsuccessful CPD product.  

When ABIM offered what it candidly called its “Continuous 

Professional Development Program,” certifications were not revoked if 

doctors did not buy the CPD product. This voluntary CPD product, 

however, was met with rampant indifference by internists. Years later, 

ABIM, much less candidly, re-branded its “Continuous Professional 

Development Program” as maintenance of certification, or MOC. But 

rather than being voluntary, ABIM instead leveraged its monopoly in 

certifications. Unless doctors bought MOC, ABIM revoked their 

certifications. 

Certifications and MOC are distinct products. As detailed below, 

Plaintiffs allege that internists differentiate between certifications and 

MOC; ABIM has always sold them separately; ABIM treats the two 

products as separate; ABIM bills and accounts for certifications and 

MOC separately; and other vendors sell CPD products like MOC 
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without certifications, showing it is efficient to provide them separately. 

Certifications and MOC are functionally different. There are no 

efficiencies from bundling certifications and MOC, or inefficiencies from 

others selling CPD products separately.  

1. The District Court Misconstrued the Complaint. 

The district court addressed only one element of Plaintiffs’ tying 

claim, finding as a matter of law that certifications and MOC are not 

distinct products. But its fundamental premise is flawed. The district 

court began by recharacterizing what it viewed as the “essence” of 

Plaintiffs’ claim. A-29. According to the court, “In essence, Plaintiffs are 

arguing that, in order to purchase ABIM’s initial certification, internists 

are forced to purchase MOC products as well.” Id.  

But the district court had it backwards. Having first purchased 

certifications, internists are later forced by ABIM to buy MOC or have 

their certifications revoked. The court’s belief that tying requires sale of 

the tying and tied products in the same transaction is erroneous. 

Whether sales are simultaneous or sequential is not “decisive of the 

legal test for separate products.” Philip E. Areeda & Herbert 

Hovenkamp, Antitrust Law: An Analysis of Antitrust Principles and 
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Their Application, ¶ 1751b, at 286 (4th Ed. 2018) (“Areeda & 

Hovenkamp”).  

The district court cited prominently to Kaufman v. Time Warner, 

836 F.3d 137 (2d Cir. 2016), which had not been cited by the parties 

below. A-27-28. The Second Circuit held there that a third amended 

complaint failed to allege facts supporting separate demand for cable 

programming (tying product) and cable boxes (tied product). Instead, 

plaintiff had alleged unhelpful “supply-side considerations,” referred to 

inapposite markets outside the United States, and analogized to a 

disparate product. 836 F.3d at 144-45. In reaching its conclusion, the 

Second Circuit placed great emphasis on the regulatory role played by 

the FCC, noting that price controls on the tied product made the tying 

claim “implausible as a whole.” Id. at 145-47. 8  

The district court highlighted Kaufman’s analogy that the cable 

boxes were like “keys to a padlock,” id. at 144, but did not explain how 

it applies here. A-28. It does not. Cable programming and cable boxes 

 
8      FCC regulations also mandated that the charges for programming 
and the boxes be itemized separately. Id. at 146. There is no such 
requirement to justify disregarding ABIM’s separate billing and 
accounting for certifications and MOC.  
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are technologically interdependent, the boxes being necessary to 

unscramble the cable signal to deliver the programming. There is, 

however, no interdependence, technological or otherwise, between 

certifications and MOC (¶ 52), and no connection at all other than 

ABIM’s illegal tie. Nor do Plaintiffs contend ABIM should be prevented 

from determining its own standards, or be required to accept any other 

CPD product as a substitute for certifications or MOC. Plaintiffs ask 

only that ABIM not revoke certifications of internists who do not buy 

MOC. (¶ 7). 

Because the reasoning in Kaufman does not apply here, the 

district court’s reliance was inappropriate. There are no “regulatory 

price controls” on ABIM that make Plaintiffs’ claims economically 

implausible. Plaintiffs have also pled facts not pled in Kaufman 

showing separate demand. The district court rejected these allegations 

but in doing so, as discussed in detail below, it ignored or distorted 

them, improperly weighed them, wrongfully resolved inferences in favor 
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of ABIM and against Plaintiffs, and considered “facts” asserted by 

ABIM outside the Complaint. 9 

The district court held, “We disagree with Plaintiffs and find that 

ABIM’s certification and MOC products are part of a single product.” A-

29 (emphasis added). This is clear error. Flora v. County of Luzerne, 776 

F.3d 169, 175 (3d Cir. 2015) (“The district court may not make findings 

of fact”). The court went on to conclude: “[W]hat internists are actually 

buying is ABIM certification” rather than certifications and MOC. A-29 

(emphasis added). In making these fact determinations, the district 

court erroneously adopted ABIM’s unsubstantiated thesis, contradicted 

by Plaintiffs’ factual allegations, that certifications and MOC constitute 

a unified product. See Kedra v. Schroeter, 876 F.3d 424, 433 (3d Cir. 

 
9      Another district court applying Kaufman denied a motion to 
dismiss a tying claim, citing allegations like those here that the two 
products were purchased separately reflecting separate demand, and 
that plaintiff had as a result “sufficiently pled the element of separate 
products.” Angio Dynamics, Inc. v. C.R. Bard, Inc., No. 1:17-cv-00598, 
2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 131206, *19-23 (N.D.N.Y. Aug. 6, 2018). The 
district court in Viamedia, Inc. v. Comcast Corp., 335 F. Supp. 3d 1036, 
1059 (N.D. Ill. 2018), relied on Kaufman in granting summary 
judgment to defendant on a Section 2 claim asserting illegal tying. That 
decision was recently reversed. Viamedia, Inc. v. Comcast Corp., 951 
F.3d 429 (7th Cir. 2020). 
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2017) (district court erred in granting motion to dismiss when it 

“accepted both [defendant’s] premise and conclusion”).  

Contrary to the district court’s supposition, just because ABIM’s 

illegal tie has succeeded does not disprove separate demand. As alleged, 

internists buy MOC not because they conflate certifications and MOC, 

but because ABIM forces them to buy MOC by revoking certifications if 

they do not. In Viamedia, 951 F.3d at 469, the Seventh Circuit rejected 

defendant’s argument of a single product premised on an assessment 

after the tie was already in place. (Citing Areeda & Hovenkamp 

¶1802d6, at 89). Here, demand must also be assessed before MOC was 

introduced rather than after, when ABIM enforced its illegal tie by 

making MOC mandatory. 

The district court assumed there is one product without any basis 

other than its unsupported conclusion that internists are “actually 

buying” ABIM certification rather than certifications and MOC. In 

doing so it arrogated to itself determination of the ultimate factual 

issue, and simply took as true ABIM’s arguments rather than Plaintiffs’ 

factual allegations to the contrary. A proper reading of the Complaint 

taking all well-pled allegations as true and construing all inferences in 
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their favor confirms Plaintiffs have alleged facts showing certifications 

and MOC are separate products and have also alleged all other 

elements of a per se tying claim. Thus, dismissal was erroneous and 

should be reversed.  

2. The Complaint Alleges Well-Pled Facts 
Supporting Separate Products. 

 
“Whether one or two products are involved turns … on the 

character of the demand for the two items.” Jefferson Parish Hosp. Dist. 

No. 2 v. Hyde, 466 U.S. 2, 19 (1984). Courts look at whether the 

products are “distinguishable in the eyes of buyers” and “separately 

priced and purchased from the buyer’s perspective.” Id. at 19-20. Courts 

also examine market structure and practices: “[A] tying arrangement 

cannot exist unless there is sufficient demand for the purchase of the 

tied product separate from the purchase of the tying product so as to 

identify a market structure in which it is efficient to offer the tied 

product separately from the tying product.” Allen-Myland, Inc. v. IBM 

Corp., 33 F.3d 194, 211 (3d Cir. 1994) (reversing summary judgment for 

defendant on tying claim citing evidence of separate demand).  
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a. The Complaint alleges consumers 
differentiate between certifications and 
MOC. 

 
Courts look to whether consumers “differentiate between” the 

tying and tied products as evidence of separate products. Jefferson 

Parish, 466 U.S. at 22-23 (“Unquestionably,” anesthesiological and 

other hospital services “could be provided separately” and “patients or 

surgeons often request specific anesthesiologists to come to a hospital 

and provide anesthesia”); Viamedia, 951 F.3d at 469 (buyers “viewed 

the services as separate”).  

Plaintiffs allege numerous facts showing consumers (internists) 

differentiate between certifications and MOC. E.g., ¶¶ 55, 66 (internists 

prefer to purchase CPD products like MOC separate from 

certifications); ¶ 25 (some internists bought ABIM’s voluntary CPD 

product separate from certifications); ¶¶ 27-29, 35 (“grandfathers” given 

the choice do not buy MOC); ¶¶ 20, 54, 56-57 (internists keep current by 

buying CPD products other than MOC from vendors who do not sell 

certifications); ¶ 54 (CME serves same function as MOC and is bought 

by internists separate from certifications); ¶¶ 87, 89 (Dr. Joshua 

purchased NBPAS product separate from certifications); ¶ 95 (Dr. 
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Manalo sought to purchase CME products separate from certifications 

as substitute for MOC); ¶ 113 (Dr. Murray-Leisure attempted to have 

NBPAS product separate from certifications accepted). Especially 

probative is the fact that ABIM exempts “grandfathers” from the 

requirement to buy MOC. (¶¶ 27-28). That thousands of internists 

forsake MOC while buying other CPD products from CME vendors for 

State licensure purposes confirms they differentiate between 

certifications and MOC. (¶ 20). 

Rather than accept these factual allegations as true, the district 

court ignored them, chose to “find” a single product, and concluded 

Plaintiffs “misunderstand the product being offered.” A-31. Plaintiffs 

did not misunderstand the product. Rather, the court misunderstood 

the nature of the exercise on a motion to dismiss, which is to determine 

only whether the complaint alleges facts necessary to state a plausible 

claim. ABIM chose to deflect and distract by advancing outside-the-

record theories about its products. It was error for the district court to 

allow ABIM to divert its attention from the question it was tasked to 

resolve.   
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The district court also held that ABIM “has the right to ensure 

[its] standards are met.” Id. This mistakenly looks at the products not 

from the consumer’s perspective, but from ABIM’s own partisan 

orientation. Whether from ABIM’s viewpoint MOC has anything to do 

with asserted standards is not germane to whether internists 

differentiate between certifications and MOC. To the contrary, from the 

internists’ perspective, MOC is imposed to generate additional revenue 

for ABIM and has nothing to do with standards. (¶¶ 30, 44, 65, 94, 143-

147, 148, 156, 163-164). The court’s unquestioned acceptance of ABIM’s 

“standards” pretext for its anticompetitive conduct is both outside of 

and at odds with Plaintiffs’ allegations and clear error.  

See Flora, 776 F.3d at 175; Sweda, 923 F.3d at 333; Kedra, 876 F.3d at 

433. 10 

b.     The Complaint alleges ABIM sells 
certifications and MOC separately. 

 
Separateness is satisfied by evidence that the two products “have 

been sold separately in the past and still are sold separately.” Eastman 

Kodak, 504 U.S. at 462 (1992). See also Multistate Legal Studies, Inc. v. 

 
10     As discussed below, crediting ABIM’s business justification 
affirmative defenses was itself reversible error. See pp. 43-48, infra. 
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Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Legal and Prof’l Publ., Inc., 63 F.3d 1540, 

1547 (10th Cir. 1995) (products marketed separately “for over a decade” 

and still sold separately).  

ABIM has sold certifications from 1936 to the present. (¶ 22). It 

did not sell MOC or any other CPD product for most of that time, 

during which other vendors sold CPD products such as CME separate 

from certifications. (¶¶ 20, 25, 54). ABIM’s first CPD product (its 

voluntary “Continuous Professional Development Program”) was sold 

separately from certifications. (¶ 25). ABIM continues to sell its CPD 

product separately after re-branding it as MOC. (¶¶ 26-27).  

The district court discounted Plaintiffs’ allegations that ABIM sold 

certifications and MOC separately as “misleading” because “history 

shows that MOC has been a requirement of ABIM certification for 

longer than it has not.” A-31. First, that is simply wrong. In 1990, 

ABIM announced that, except for those it “grandfathered,” internists 

beginning in 2000 would have to buy MOC or have their certifications 

revoked. (¶¶ 26-27). Thus, ABIM has sold certifications from 1936 to the 

Case: 20-1007     Document: 22-1     Page: 37      Date Filed: 05/04/2020



29 
 

present, eighty-four years, and only announced it would begin requiring 

MOC in 1990, with sales beginning in 2000. 11 

Second, precisely when ABIM began its illegal tying by requiring 

MOC is irrelevant to whether certifications and MOC have been sold 

separately. They have. Third, the district court admittedly weighed 

Plaintiffs’ allegations of separate sales, giving “very little weight in 

Plaintiffs’ favor in our analysis.” A-31. It is reversible error to weigh 

allegations on a motion to dismiss. Anjelino v. The N.Y. Times Co., 200 

F.3d 73, 97 (3d Cir. 2000) (“Rather than weighing the credibility of the 

parties' positions on this disputed issue, the District Court should under 

Rule 12 (b)(6) and Rule 56 have left such considerations to a jury.”). See 

also Sweda, 923 F.3d at 333; Kedra, 876 F.3d at 433. That error is 

especially problematic here given the court was wrong that MOC has 

been a requirement of certification for longer than it has not.  

 
11      The district court either got its math wrong or mistakenly believed 
MOC has been sold continuously since 1974-75. A-30-31. But 1974-75 
was when ABIM began selling not MOC, but its voluntary “Continuous 
Professional Development Program.” ABIM sold no other CPD product 
until MOC was announced in 1990, and sales began in 2000. (¶¶ 25-27). 
Contrary to the court’s impression, the “Continuous Professional 
Development Program” was voluntary and never a requirement of 
certification. 
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c.     The Complaint alleges ABIM treats   
certifications and MOC as separate.  

 
According to the IRS Form 990 filed by ABIM, MOC “means 

something different from initial certification.” (¶ 53). This allegation is 

telling because ABIM is managed by internists. (¶ 71). The district 

court gave no heed to this allegation. ABIM’s own recognition that MOC 

“means something different” further demonstrates that internists, 

including those in charge of ABIM, differentiate between certifications 

and MOC. ABIM’s “grandfather” policy similarly concedes that 

certification and MOC are distinct. (¶¶ 27-28). If MOC were one 

component of a single product, ABIM would not exempt thousands of 

certified internists from the requirement to purchase MOC. See 

Viamedia, 951 F.3d at 474 (defendant’s sales of tying product alone 

show there “are indeed separate products”).  

The district court failed to accept these allegations as true, 

countering that “Plaintiffs provide no support as to why ABIM should 

not be allowed to modify its certification process over time,” and 

concluding, “We see no problem that at some point ABIM realized there 

was a need to have its certified internists undergo an [sic] MOC 

program whether because the internists could not keep up with the 
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advances in their particular field, saw their skills diminish, or any other 

reason.” A-33. The Complaint, however, includes no allegation that 

ABIM “realized there was a need” to modify certifications, that MOC 

even is a modification or an improvement, or that internists could not 

keep current. Nor are these permissible inferences from Plaintiffs’ 

allegations. Instead, they are more outside-the-record contentions by 

ABIM adopted wholesale by the district court. 12 

Contradicting these unsupported conjectures, are Plaintiffs’ 

factual allegations that: (1) rather than MOC being a modification or 

improvement, certifications and MOC are functionally different and 

“not interchangeable or a component of one another” (¶ 52); (2) there is 

 
12      The district court inferred from two Plaintiffs’ failure to pass a 
MOC test that ABIM’s tie was justified. A-33. The court twisted the 
allegations, however, which far from providing justification, further 
demonstrate MOC does not provide any benefit to physicians, patients, 
or the public. Dr. Joshua failed a MOC test and her certification was 
revoked; yet her patients were then treated by another doctor not 
required to buy MOC. (¶¶ 85, 86). MOC clearly was not required to 
assure that the doctor treating Dr. Joshua’s patients kept current. Dr. 
Murray failed a MOC test in 2009 and then passed it in 2012. In the 
interim, she notified ABIM of serious deficiencies in MOC, including 
erroneous answers in a practice module and the lack of questions on 
infectious diseases common to the practice of most infectious disease 
physicians. (¶¶ 109-111). These and other inferences by the court 
against Plaintiffs were unreasonable and improper. 
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no legitimate business or pro-competitive justification for MOC, an 

artificial product created by ABIM to generate cash when its 

certification revenues began to diminish (¶¶ 44, 124, 148); (3) internists 

had for decades kept current without MOC by purchasing CPD products 

sold by others, including CME (¶¶ 20, 54); and (4) there is no evidence 

of a causal relationship between MOC and any benefit to physicians, 

patients, or the public, confirming MOC is a failed product that does not 

serve the needs or provide the benefits claimed by ABIM. (¶¶ 42-43, 

136).  

The district court ignored these allegations. Not only did the court 

wrongfully embrace ABIM’s conclusory rhetoric, it misapplied the law. 

Even if MOC were viewed as a modification or improvement, which it is 

not, that would by no means be conclusive of whether a single product 

exists. Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1746, at 231 (“However, innovation 

need not always take the form of building a better mousetrap. Instead, 

the ‘innovation’ may be an anticompetitive tie that no one has tried 

before.”); id. ¶ 1744h, at 200 (noting “the unremarkable view that 

things can be separate products even if they are complements”).  
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For example, in Multistate Legal Studies, summary judgment in 

favor of defendants on a tying claim was reversed because a fact 

question existed whether a new workshop (the tied product) tied by 

defendants to their bar review course (the tying product) was distinct. 

Like here, defendants argued the workshop was “nothing more than the 

improvement of a single product.” 63 F.3d at 1547. The district court 

agreed with defendants, finding that adding an improvement “could not 

possibly” constitute tying of a second product to the first product. Id. 

The Tenth Circuit, however, found “a material factual dispute” over 

whether there was sufficient demand for the course without the 

workshop “to make it efficient to sell the two separately.” Id. at 1548.  

Many of the facts relied upon in Multistate Legal Studies to 

reverse summary judgment are alleged by Plaintiffs here, including 

that defendants there did not require all purchasers of the course to buy 

the workshop, just as ABIM does not require “grandfathers” to buy 

MOC. Other allegations analogous to those here include a history of the 

two products being sold separately; separate fees; before defendants 

required purchase of the workshop, purchasers of the course chose not 

to buy it (similar to internists who chose not to buy ABIM’s voluntary 
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CPD product and to “grandfathers” who choose not to buy MOC); and 

other industry participants viewed the two products as separate. Id. at 

1547-48. 

d.     The Complaint alleges ABIM bills and 
        accounts for certifications and MOC 
        separately.  

 
Courts also consider whether the tied product is billed separately. 

Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 22 (“anesthesiological services are billed 

separately”); Multistate Legal Studies, 63 F.3d at 1547 (separate fees); 

Thompson v. Metro. Multi-List, Inc., 934 F.2d 1566, 1575 (11th Cir. 

1991) (same). ABIM has always sold certifications and MOC separately, 

and charged for them separately. (¶¶ 3, 4, 21, 30, 34, 52, 64, 143-144). 

ABIM also accounts separately for certifications and MOC on its 

financial statements. (¶¶ 144-148). 

The district court, however, did not accept these allegations, 

concluding Jefferson Parish did not apply because there, “both services 

were part of the same transaction.” A-32. Thus, the court found it 

determinative that, “[T]here is no indication in the Amended Complaint 

that the internists purchase their initial certification at the same time 

they purchase their MOC programs.” Id. Once again, however, the 
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district court erroneously assumed an illegal tie requires that the 

products be sold as part of the same transaction. See pp. 19-20, supra.  

Jefferson Parish concluded there was no illegal tying due to a lack 

of market power in hospital services; whether both products were part 

of the same transaction was not a factor. 466 U.S. at 26-28. To the 

contrary, the Supreme Court found that billing anesthesiological 

services separately, “amply support[ed] the conclusion that consumers 

differentiate between anesthesiological services and the other hospital 

services” without mandating that the products be sold in the same 

transaction. Id. at 23.  

The district court distinguished Thompson, even though the 

Eleventh Circuit cited separate billing practices as “evidence of separate 

services,” because the services were provided by different entities. A-32. 

The district court, however, did not explain why that distinction is 

significant. It is not. The entities were a parent and its subsidiary, and 

Thompson attached no significance to there being two, albeit related, 

entities. 934 F.2d at 1570, 1574-76. In fact, illegal tying cases typically 

involve a single seller. See Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1700, at 4 (“Tying 

occurs when a seller refuses to sell a product … unless the buyer also 
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agrees to purchase a second product … from this seller”) (emphasis 

added). 13 

e.     The Complaint alleges other vendors sell 
CPD products without certifications. 

 
Courts also examine market structure and practices as an 

indication whether there are efficiencies to offering the products 

separately, thus supporting separate demand. See Eastman Kodak, 504 

U.S. at 462 (“service and parts have been sold separately in the past [by 

others] and are still sold separately”); Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. 23, n. 

39 (“other hospitals often permit anesthesiological services to be 

purchased separately”); Viamedia, 951 F.3d at 469 (competitor offered 

only the tied product “for almost two decades”). See also Areeda & 

Hovenkamp, ¶ 1745c, at 202 (the Supreme Court in Jefferson Parish 

and Eastman Kodak “inferred the efficiency of bundling and nature of 

consumer demand indirectly from such more readily observed facts as 

actual consumer requests and market practices”). 

 

 
13      The district court ignored altogether that in addition to billing 
internists separately, ABIM also accounts for certifications and MOC 
separately on its financial statements.  
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Other vendors sell CPD products without selling certifications.  

(¶¶ 2, 20, 50, 51, 56-57). The district court, however, either 

misunderstood or ignored these allegations. For example, it noted that 

ABIM and NBPAS do not sell the same product because ABIM does not 

revoke certifications if internists buy MOC. A-31-32. But that is 

precisely the point: ABIM illegally ties certifications and MOC. Once 

the illegal tie is stripped away in other words, but for ABIM forcing 

internists to purchase MOC, the NBPAS product and MOC are both 

CPD products separate from certifications. 

The district court rationalized that other vendors sell CPD 

products without selling certifications by analogizing ABIM to a 

university with the “right to ensure that students who earn a degree 

have met set certain requirements set by that university.” A-31. The 

analogy fails on several levels. First, Plaintiffs are not challenging 

ABIM’s requirements for certifications it sells to new residency program 

graduates. Second, ABIM possesses monopoly power over certifications; 

by contrast, there are thousands of universities and colleges. Third, 

students are not required to pay their university for repeated 

examinations throughout their careers or forfeit their degrees. And 

Case: 20-1007     Document: 22-1     Page: 46      Date Filed: 05/04/2020



38 
 

finally, students who go on to earn a graduate degree do not have their 

undergraduate degrees revoked when the graduate degree is obtained 

from a different university.  

f. The Complaint alleges ABIM forces 
internists to buy MOC. 

 
 Certifications are essential for an internist to practice medicine 

successfully. (¶¶ 6, 37-38, 39, 40, 73, 77-78, 87, 95-96, 109, 155, 166). 

Given this reality and that ABIM revokes certifications of those who do 

not buy MOC, internists are forced to buy MOC. (¶¶ 4, 26, 30, 37, 42, 

61, 65, 68, 69, 71). Internists, however, would rather buy CPD products 

from others. (¶¶ 55, 66). MOC cannot be considered voluntary, 

especially as a matter of law at this early stage of the proceedings. 14 

  Courts recognize that economic reality, not rhetoric, dictates 

whether a purchase is forced. Thus, in Viamedia the Seventh Circuit 

found forcing to be a fact issue. 951 F.3d at 470-74 (“a seller is not 

immunized from a tying claim if there is a factual dispute as to whether 

the buyer wished to purchase” the tied product “from the defendant 

with market power” in the tying product). The Court specifically held 

 
14      ABIM’s “Continuous Professional Development Program,” its first 
CPD product, was truly voluntary. It failed. (¶ 25).    
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that the purported option of retail cable providers bringing the tied 

product (ad rep services) in-house was “not a practical choice,” and that 

it “[c]annot affirm summary judgment by overlooking [the] evidence 

about the realities of the parties’ dealings and the economic realities of 

the market.” Id. at 470, n. 17.  

 So too here, as alleged, the purported option offered by ABIM that 

internists can refuse to buy MOC and still continue practicing after 

their certifications are revoked defies economic reality and is not a 

“practical choice.” See also Copperweld Corp. v. Independence Tube 

Corp., 467 U.S. 752, 760 (1984) (Sherman Act “aimed at substance 

rather than form”); Collins Inkjet Corp. v. Eastman Kodak Co., 781 F.3d 

264, 272 (6th Cir. 2015) (“Unlawful ties need not be explicit …”); United 

States v. Microsoft Corp., 253 F.3d 34, 64 (D.C. Cir. 2001) (en banc) 

(monopolist barring cost-effective means of distribution liable despite 

other means remaining open). See Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1752e, at 

295 (tying present when defendant utilizes a customer’s desire to 

“constrain improperly their choice” between products).   
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3.     The District Court Used a Prohibited Functional 
Analysis to Find a Single Product.  
 

          Certifications and MOC are functionally distinct. Certifications 

are sold only to new residency program graduates, and according to 

ABIM demonstrate “that physicians have completed internal medicine 

and subspecialty training.” (¶ 21). MOC on the other hand, is sold to 

established internists and, again according to ABIM, “means 

something different” and, “speaks to the question of whether or not an 

internist is staying current.” (¶ 53). The district court failed to take 

into account these allegations of functional difference. 

Making matters worse, the district court found as a matter of law 

that certifications and MOC were functionally linked. See A-23, A-33 

(“what internists are actually buying is ABIM certification” not 

certifications and MOC, and “Plaintiffs provide no support as to why 

ABIM should not be allowed to modify its certification process over 

time”). In doing so, the court not only failed to take as true Plaintiffs’ 

allegations of functional difference (and ABIM’s admissions in its IRS 

Form 990), it applied a functional analysis rejected by the Supreme 

Court. See Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 19 n.30 (whether products “are 
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functionally linked … is not in itself sufficient” to determine whether 

they are separate). 15 

When a court eschews the factors relevant to assessing demand in 

favor of divining the “nature” of the products on its own, as the district 

court did here, it errs as a matter of law. See Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 

1741a, at 170 (“Courts often decide whether two allegedly tied items 

‘really’ constitute a single product as if the question involved natural 

law, intuition, or some other inquiry divorced from the aims of tying law 

… Such metaphysical or intuitive inquiries are inherently uncertain 

and are typically useless for analyzing ties.”). 

In Service & Training, Inc. v. Data Gen. Corp., 963 F.2d 680 (4th 

Cir. 1992), plaintiff alleged Data General tied a diagnostic product to 

computer maintenance services. The district court concluded the 

diagnostic product “is merely one feature” of the unified “computer 

servicing” product, which it decided was the product consumers truly 

desired. It also found that the “only … legitimate purpose” for the tied 

 
15      ABIM might be free to modify the “certification process” used to 
test new residency program graduates, but that is not at issue here. 
ABIM is not free to invent a wholly new product, even under the guise 
of a modification or improvement, and force internists to buy the new 
product throughout their careers or have their certifications revoked.  
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product was to “maintain and repair computer systems,” and that since 

the two products “are inextricably bound together,” they cannot be 

considered separate. Id. at 684. The Fourth Circuit reversed, calling 

“[t]his inquiry into purpose and use” by the district court 

“indistinguishable from the inquiry into the ‘functional relationship’ 

between products that was rejected in Jefferson Parish.” Id. See also 

Multistate Legal Studies, 63 F.3d at 1551-52 (rejecting argument that 

incorporating a “product improvement” creates a single product because 

demand rather than related function is proper analysis). 

Moreover, even products that are functionally linked can be 

separate products. Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 19 n.30 (“[w]e have 

often found arrangements involving functionally linked products at 

least one of which is useless without the other to be prohibited tying 

devices”) (collecting cases); Viamedia, 951 F.3d at 469 (“[t]he fact that 

buyers may wish to purchase and use two complementary products 

together does not, in and of itself, convert the two separate products 

into a single product”); Thompson, 934 F.2d at 1575 (argument “that 

multilist services are useless without the support services provided by 

the Realtors” rejected as “irrelevant” to whether the products are 
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separate). See also Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1751a2, at 280, 281 (asking 

whether buyer “needs both items to produce the system result the buyer 

really values” is misguided and “departs greatly from precedent … [t]he 

more accurate question is not whether the buyer ‘needs both’ products, 

but rather whether it ‘needs both’ from the same seller”).  

4. The District Court Erroneously Credited ABIM’s 
Business Justification Affirmative Defenses.  

 
Plaintiffs allege there is no legitimate business or pro-competitive 

justification for ABIM’s tying of certifications and MOC. (¶ 124). The 

district court nonetheless unabashedly adopted ABIM’s arguments that 

MOC is vindicated by claimed business justifications, including: 

• “hospitals, insurance companies, and patients would lose 
faith in the ABIM certification process” if internists were not 
required to buy MOC, 
 

• ABIM “has the right to ensure [its] standards are met,” and 
 

• “ABIM realized … internists could not keep up” with 
advances. 
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A-30 n.2, A-31, A-33. While there is no basis in the Complaint for these 

findings by the court, each was advocated by ABIM below. See, e.g., Dkt. 

22-2 at 8-9, 12, 19. 16  

There is no allegation in the Complaint that anyone would lose 

faith in ABIM if its illegal tying of MOC were stripped away. In fact, 

Plaintiffs allege the opposite, that ABIM is itself “undermining the 

credibility of MOC.” (¶ 34). See Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1761, p. 400-

401 (the question is whether the tie “is needed at all protect a product’s 

reputation.”); id. at ¶ 1716b, p. 197 (“many decisions, including several 

by the Supreme Court, have rejected quality-control defenses because 

the challenged tie did not seem necessary to protect quality.”). Nor do 

 
16      Although the district court in some instances cited to allegations 
in the Complaint when reaching its conclusions, it necessarily twisted 
them to do so. For example, the court cited ¶¶ 32-34 as support for its 
finding that MOC “allows ABIM to ensure that those it has certified are 
still able to meet its ‘rigorous standards’ and stay up-to-date on the 
general practice of internal medicine.” A-30. But those allegations 
contain no reference to “rigorous standards” and simply describe how 
ABIM has lurched from one ineffective incarnation of MOC to another 
and by doing so increased costs to internists. The reference to “rigorous 
standards” is from ABIM’s Form 990 and specifically refers to 
certifications and not MOC. (¶ 21). At minimum, the district court 
repeatedly and wrongfully resolved inferences in favor of ABIM and 
against Plaintiffs.  
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Plaintiffs propose ABIM must accept other CPD products in place of 

MOC, a misapprehension that pervades the district court’s opinion.  

There is likewise no allegation in the Complaint that MOC 

ensures ABIM “standards.” Plaintiffs assert the opposite: that the 

driving force behind MOC is the substantial new revenue it generates; 

that it “undermin[es] the credibility” of ABIM; and that there is no 

evidence of a causal relationship between MOC and any benefit to 

physicians, patients, or the public. (¶¶ 34, 42-43, 44, 65, 136, 164). And 

again, Plaintiffs do not contend ABIM should be prevented from 

determining its own standards.   

As to internists not being able to keep current without MOC, that 

allegation also appears nowhere in the Complaint. Further, as Jefferson 

Parish made clear, “we reject the view of the District Court that the 

legality of an arrangement of this kind turns on whether it was adopted 

for the purpose of improving patient care.” See also Areeda & 

Hovenkamp, ¶ 1741b, at 174 (“The separate-products requirement is 

not an invitation to examine the general reasonableness of the 

bundle.”). 
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Not only was the district court’s adoption of ABIM’s affirmative 

defenses contrary to Plaintiffs’ allegations, it was error for the court 

even to consider them. See Jefferson Parish, 466 U.S. at 26, n.42 

(defendant’s “goodwill” justification for tie and similar arguments are 

“defenses”); Mozart Co. v. Mercedes-Benz of North America, Inc., 833 

F.2d 1342, 1349 (9th Cir. 1987) (argument that “tying arrangement is 

necessary to assure quality control and to protect its goodwill” an 

“affirmative defense” for which defendant bore burden of proof) 

(internal quotation omitted); Metrix Warehouse, Inc. v. Daimler-Benz 

Aktiengesellschaft, 828 F.2d 1033, 1040 (4th Cir. 1987) (same). See also 

Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1741, at 175 (“Justifications can be considered 

as a defense to a tying claim, and normally are now so considered by 

courts.”).  

A plaintiff is not required to anticipate and plead around 

affirmative defenses. “Generally speaking, we will not rely on an 

affirmative defense … to trigger dismissal of a complaint under Rule 

12(b)(6).” Victaulic Co. v. Tieman, 499 F.3d 227, 234 (3d Cir. 2007). 

There is a “particularly heavy burden” on a defendant when, as here, 

the defense asserted is highly fact intensive. Id. at 235 (affirmative 
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defense of “unreasonableness … is a factual one, requiring 

consideration of all the facts and circumstances”). See also, id. at 237 

(“drawing inferences against the non-moving party so as to dismiss its 

well-pleaded claims on the basis of an affirmative defense, takes us, as 

a matter of process, far too far afield from the adversarial context of 

litigation”). Basing dismissal on ABIM’s affirmative defenses was 

reversible error. 

In a footnote, the district court found the franchise model 

advocated by ABIM, while “not a perfect comparator,” to be “very 

instructive.” A-30, n.2. To the contrary, the model is inapposite and not 

at all instructive. First, ABIM is a monopolist with market power in 

certifications who forces internists to buy MOC by revoking their 

certifications if they do not. Franchisors, on the other hand, are not 

monopolists, and franchisees are free to choose from any number of 

franchise opportunities. Bundling of products in the franchise context is 

contractual in nature, agreed to as part of the franchise documents, and 

not founded on anti-competitive coercion.  

In Queen City Pizza, Inc. v. Domino’s Pizza, Inc., 124 F.3d 430, 

441 (3d Cir. 1997), this Court explained that the “franchise package” 
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there was “consistent with the existence of a competitive market in 

which franchises are valued, in part, according to the terms of the 

proposed franchise agreement and the availability of alternative 

franchise opportunities. Plaintiffs need not have become Domino’s 

franchisees.” It went on to recognize, however, that market power in the 

tying product, as ABIM possesses here, would result in a different 

outcome: “If Domino's had market power in the overall market for pizza 

dough and forced plaintiffs to purchase other unwanted ingredients to 

obtain dough, plaintiffs might possess a valid tying claim.” Id. at 443.  

In addition, internists do not purchase licensing rights from 

ABIM, share investment risk with ABIM, or buy a uniform method of 

doing business from ABIM. Thus, the economic rationale that certain 

efficiencies might justify a franchisor’s bundling does not apply here. 

See Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 1710c3, at 117 (in franchise cases, “the tie 

is being used not to extract monopoly prices or drive out competitors, 

but rather as a mechanism by which the franchisor and franchisee 

share the risk of investment and operations”). The franchise analogy is 

specious and the district court erred by adopting it from ABIM.  
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C. Plaintiffs State A Rule of Reason Tying Claim.  

A rule of reason analysis comes into play only when “appreciable 

tying market power cannot be shown.” Brokerage Concepts, 140 F.3d at 

511. Because ABIM’s monopoly power in certifications is not disputed 

for present purposes, whether Plaintiffs’ alternative rule of reason tying 

allegations state a claim need not be considered at this time. In 

addition, whether a per se or rule of reason analysis is warranted is best 

determined not on the pleadings but after consideration of a full 

evidentiary record. See Eastman Kodak 504 U.S. at 466–67. 

Notwithstanding, to state a rule of reason tying claim a plaintiff, 

in addition to the per se elements, must allege the tie “unreasonably 

restrained competition” in the tied product. Brokerage Concepts, 140 

F.3d at 511. The Complaint alleges well-pled facts showing ABIM has 

unreasonably restrained competition. For example, internists prefer to 

purchase CPD products from others to keep current (¶¶ 55, 66), but are 

forced to buy MOC (¶¶ 4, 26-27, 44, 49, 61). This includes CME 

products that serve the same function as MOC. (¶¶ 20, 54). Dr. Manalo 

sought unsuccessfully to purchase CME products as a substitute for 

MOC. (¶ 95). NBPAS also sells a CPD product, though ABIM’s illegal 
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tying of certifications and MOC has led to “limited success” by NBPAS 

and eliminated “meaningful competition.” (¶¶ 56, 59, 68).   

By forcing internists to buy MOC, ABIM shuts out competitors 

and unreasonably restrains competition in the tied product. As a result, 

Plaintiffs and other internists are forced to buy MOC at inflated 

monopoly prices or have their certifications revoked. (¶¶ 4, 64). There is 

no legitimate business or pro-competitive justification for ABIM’s tying 

of certifications and MOC. (¶ 124).  

Plaintiffs allege sufficient facts to demonstrate that ABIM’s 

restraint of competition is unreasonable. See Arizona v. Maricopa 

County Medical Society, 457 U.S. 332, 343 (1982) (“[T]he rule of reason 

requires the factfinder to decide whether under all the circumstances of 

the case the restrictive practice imposes an unreasonable restraint on 

competition.”); In re Wholesale Grocery Prods. Antitrust Litig., 752 F.3d 

728, 733-34 (8th Cir. 2014) (“numerous factual questions” exist 

regarding reasonableness of restraint); Perceptron, Inc. v. Sensor 

Adaptive Machs., Inc., 221 F.3d 913, 919 (6th Cir. 2000) (reasonableness 

a jury determination); Hovenkamp, Herbert J., The Rule of Reason, 70 
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Fla. L. Rev. 81, 91 (2018) (“Within the rule of reason analysis, the 

question of whether a restraint is ‘reasonable’ is ordinarily one of fact.”).   

D. Plaintiffs Allege Antitrust Injury.  
 

 Antitrust injury is “injury of the type the antitrust laws were 

intended to prevent and that flows from that which makes [the] 

defendants’ acts unlawful.” West Penn Allegheny Health Sys., Inc. v. 

UPMC, 627 F.3d 85, 101 (3d Cir. 2010). “[T]the existence of an 

‘antitrust injury’ is not typically resolved through motions to dismiss.” 

Brader v. Allegheny Gen. Hosp., 64 F.3d 869, 876 (3d Cir. 1995). ABIM 

nonetheless argued below that antitrust injury is not sufficiently 

alleged. The district court did not address the issue. 17   

Antitrust injury is established when the “challenged conduct 

affected the prices, quantity or quality of goods or services.” Mathews v. 

Lancaster Gen. Hosp., 87 F.3d 624, 641 (3d Cir. 1996). Plaintiffs allege 

ABIM forces internists to purchase MOC, charges inflated monopoly 

prices for MOC, thwarts competition in the tied product, constrains the 

supply of internists, and raises the cost of medical practice for 

 
17  ABIM challenged below only whether the correct “type” of injury is 
alleged, not whether the injury “flows” from the unlawful conduct. See 
Dkt. 22-2 at 23-26; Dkt. 29-1 at 16-19. 
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internists. (¶¶ 4, 20, 26, 30, 37, 42, 54, 55, 56, 59, 61, 64-65, 68-70, 71, 

75, 83, 91, 95, 104). Plaintiffs also allege “there is no evidence of an 

actual causal relationship between MOC and any beneficial impact on 

physicians, patients, or the public.” (¶¶ 42-43, 136). 

These allegations support all three of the Mathews indicia: ABIM’s 

conduct affects price (e.g., ABIM charges monopoly prices for MOC); 

quantity (e.g., ABIM thwarts competition in the tied product), and 

quality (e.g., there is no relationship between MOC and any beneficial 

impact on physicians, patients, or the public). As this Court has 

recognized, “a purchaser in a market where competition has been 

wrongfully restrained has suffered an antitrust injury.” In re Warfarin 

Sodium Antitrust Litig., 391 F.3d 516, 531 (3d Cir. 2004). See also 

Eastman Kodak, 504 U.S. at 478 (“higher service prices and market 

foreclosure—is facially anticompetitive and exactly the harm that 

antitrust laws aim to prevent”).  

ABIM, however, ignored these allegations entirely below, instead 

focusing on the individual Plaintiffs’ lost income and employment 

opportunities. These additional damages, however, do not eclipse the 

MOC fees ABIM forces internists to pay, nor do they minimize or 
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eliminate the effect of ABIM’s unlawful conduct on price, quantity, and 

quality. When illegal tying injures competition, a plaintiff is injured and 

antitrust injury established even if the plaintiff does not purchase the 

tied product. See, e.g., Wells Real Estate, Inc. v. Greater Lowell Bd. of 

Realtors, 850 F.2d 803, 814 (1st Cir. 1988). 

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE 
MONOPOLIZATION CLAIMS. 

 A. Standard Of Review. 

 This Court’s review of the dismissal of the monopolization claims 

under Section 2 is plenary. See Broadcom Corp., 501 F.3d at 306. 

 B. Plaintiffs State Monopolization Claims. 

Having improperly made the determination contrary to Plaintiffs’ 

well-pled factual allegations, that as a matter of law there cannot be 

separate products and an illegal tie, the district court dismissed the 

monopolization claims finding “no anticompetitive conduct on the part 

of ABIM.” A-36. As explained in detail above, however, Plaintiffs allege 

numerous facts supporting separate demand and distinct products, and 

hence an illegal tie under Section 1. See pp. 24-38, supra. Thus, there 

are ample facts pled supporting anticompetitive conduct for purposes of 

the monopolization claims.  
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In addition, the district court erred in assuming that its mistaken 

resolution of the tying claims under Section 1 dictated a similar 

outcome for the monopolization claims. “‘When the defendant is a 

dominant firm’ and meets ‘a much stricter power requirement,’ 

however, ‘the special screening function’ of the tying factors is ‘largely 

unnecessary and the more general standards of § 2 become relevant’ 

because ‘the technical requirements … attach only to per se ties.’” 

Viamedia, 951 F.3d at 468 (quoting Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 777, at 

324). The Seventh Circuit upheld the monopolization claim in Viamedia 

and rejected the lower court’s “great effort” to “parse whether Comcast’s 

conduct satisfies some platonic ideal of tying conduct.” 951 F.3d at 469.  

Because ABIM is a monopolist, tying conduct short of a Section 1 

violation can nonetheless constitute anticompetitive conduct under 

Section 2. See Areeda & Hovenkamp, ¶ 777, at 324. Bundling by a 

monopolist “may be unlawful even if the items in the bundled package 

would not constitute separate products … the question is whether 

viewing the monopolist’s conduct as a whole, it has unreasonably 

maintained or enhanced its monopoly position.” Id. See also Multistate 

Legal Studies, 63 F.3d at 1550-51 (give-away of tied product precluding 
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tying claim of separate products under Section 1 did not preclude 

finding that same conduct was anticompetitive under Section 2); C.R. 

Bard, Inc. v. MC Systems, Inc., 157 F.3d 1340, 1381-83 (Fed. Cir. 1998) 

(product modification theory of liability upheld for Section 2 claim). 

Plaintiffs also allege a range of other anticompetitive conduct by 

ABIM, including: leveraging its monopoly in certifications; forcing 

internists to buy MOC; thwarting competition; placing market 

participants on its board of directors; waging a campaign of deception 

about the benefits of MOC; constantly making burdensome changes to 

MOC; monopoly pricing; and rendering internists unable to assess 

lifetime costs of MOC. (¶¶ 4-6, 26-27, 31-34, 37, 42, 44, 49-51, 55, 57, 

59-65, 67-68, 70-71, 73, 127-129, 133-135).  

The district court summarily rejected most of these as facially 

invalid, again relying on its “finding” of a single product for purposes of 

the Section 1 claim. A-34. 18  Even assuming a single product for Section 

 
18      The district court did address two of Plaintiffs’ allegations, that 
market participants (other internists) serve on the ABIM board of 
directors and ABIM’s campaign of deception about the alleged benefits 
of MOC. A-34-37. It rejected the former invoking the baseless 
assumption that the ABIM directors could be burdened with 
“indiscriminate discovery requests left to the whim of Plaintiffs.” A-36. 
Imagined discovery concerns, however, are best addressed under the 
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1 purposes, however, this conduct is sufficiently alleged as 

anticompetitive under Section 2. Plaintiffs allege many well-pled facts 

supporting ABIM’s anticompetitive conduct, including not only tying 

but other anticompetitive acts as well, and dismissal of the 

monopolization claims should be reversed.  

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING 
PLAINTIFFS’ RICO CLAIMS.  

 
A. Standard Of Review. 

 This Court’s review of the dismissal of the RICO claim is plenary. 

See Broadcom Corp., 501 F.3d at 306. 

B. Plaintiffs Allege Injury Proximately Caused By 
ABIM’s RICO Violations. 
 

 The district court held Plaintiffs did not have standing because 

they failed adequately to allege that ABIM’s RICO violations 

proximately caused their injuries: “ABIM’s alleged fraudulent 

 
discovery rules and not by summarily dismissing claims. ABIM’s 
fraudulent misrepresentations about MOC were excused because, 
according to the court, ABIM did not coerce hospital, insurers, and 
others. Id. But as explained immediately below in connection with 
Plaintiffs’ RICO claim, this ignores Plaintiffs’ allegations that ABIM’s 
campaign of deception has been successful as hospitals, insurers, and 
others believe its fraudulent statements about MOC and as a result 
require internists to buy MOC.       
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statements are too attenuated to substantiate a claim.” A-40. In 

reaching this conclusion, however, the court found facts inconsistent 

with Plaintiffs’ allegations, ignored other well-pled allegations of fact, 

and misunderstood the RICO scheme alleged.  

 The RICO scheme here is simple and plausible. ABIM’s first CPD 

product, its voluntary “Continuous Professional Development Program,” 

failed due to lack of sales. (¶ 25). ABIM realized its new CPD product, 

MOC, could generate the fees desired by ABIM only if internists were 

forced to buy MOC to keep their certifications from being revoked.  

(¶¶ 4, 26-27, 44, 49, 61, 144, 148). Knowing MOC could not succeed on 

its own merits, ABIM waged a campaign, “to deceive the public, 

including but not limited to hospitals and related entities, insurance 

companies, medical corporations and other employers, and the media, 

that MOC, among other things, benefits physicians, patients and the 

public and constitutes self-regulation by internists.” (¶¶ 6, 131; see also 

¶¶ 42-43, 94, 133-135, 154, 166, 167, 168c, 168d).  

The goal of ABIM’s campaign of fraudulent misrepresentations is 

to convince hospitals, insurers, and others to require internists to buy 

MOC, “in order to obtain hospital consulting and admitting privileges, 
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reimbursement by insurance companies, employment by medical 

corporations and other employers, malpractice coverage, and other 

requirements of the practice of medicine.” (¶¶ 6, 166). ABIM’s campaign 

has been successful; hospitals, insurers, and others believe ABIM’s 

fraudulent statements and require internists to buy MOC. (¶¶ 6, 37, 38, 

39, 63, 131, 166).   

Plaintiffs and other internists are injured by the RICO scheme. 

The goal of ABIM’s campaign of deception is to drive sales of MOC and 

generate MOC fees from internists. (¶¶ 4, 44, 65, 163-164). ABIM’s 

success is manifest: MOC has generated hundreds of millions of dollars 

in fees, with MOC revenue nearly tripling the last eleven years alone as 

ABIM repeatedly increased MOC fees. (¶¶ 30, 31-34, 65, 143-147). 19  

The new MOC revenue is used to serve the economic interests of ABIM 

management, including overly generous compensation, ABIM’s lavish 

 
19      The individual Plaintiffs suffered other injuries in addition to the 
payment of MOC fees. (¶¶ 76-80 (Dr. Kenney), 85-89 (Dr. Joshua), 93, 
95-96, 100-101 (Dr. Manalo), 105, 108-109, 112 (Dr. Murray-Leisure)). 
The district court questioned some of these additional injuries but 
accepted the payment of MOC fees as cognizable RICO injuries. A-37-
39.  
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pension plan, and purchase of a $2.3 million condominium used by 

ABIM management. (¶¶ 132, 148-153, 164, 167). 

 The district court rejected the RICO claims, finding first that 

Plaintiffs’ understanding of MOC “is fundamentally flawed” because 

MOC is required to “maintain an ABIM certification” and ABIM “has 

the right to control who it is certifying and what standards and 

requirements are necessary.” A-39. But as detailed above, MOC was 

created to generate revenue for ABIM and the court’s unquestioned 

acceptance of ABIM’s “standards” pretext for its unlawful conduct is 

both outside of and at odds with Plaintiffs’ allegations. See pp. 4, 8, 27, 

45, supra. That ABIM’s “standards” pretext is specious is confirmed by 

the fact there is no evidence of a causal relationship between MOC and 

any benefit to physicians, patients, or the public. See pp. 9, 32, 45, 

supra.  

More importantly, whether ABIM requires MOC has nothing to do 

with whether Plaintiffs suffer injury as a result of ABIM’s RICO 

scheme. 20  ABIM still fraudulently misrepresents MOC to hospitals, 

 
20      Of course, ABIM’s requirement that internists buy MOC or have 
their certifications revoked is itself part of its RICO scheme.  
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insurers, and others causing them to require internists to buy MOC. 

Nor do Plaintiffs contend ABIM should be prevented from determining 

its own standards, or be required to accept any other CPD product as a 

substitute for certifications or MOC.  

The district court found, second, that “ABIM has not forced” 

internists to buy MOC. A-39. But as also detailed above, Plaintiffs 

sufficiently allege that internists are forced to purchase MOC or have 

their certifications revoked. See pp. 5-7, 9, 38-39 supra. The economic 

reality is that certifications are required to practice medicine 

successfully.  

The court also attempted to shift responsibility from ABIM, 

asserting certain injuries of individual Plaintiffs (loss of privileges and 

employment) were the result of actions by hospitals and employers. A-

39. This ignores, however, the hundreds of millions of dollars in MOC 

fees paid by internists, the principal RICO injury alleged. (¶¶ 163-164). 

These fees are required by ABIM, not by hospitals and employers. The 

district court’s focus on these third parties fails because it 

misapprehends the RICO scheme alleged, that internists are the target 
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of ABIM’s fraud and that Plaintiffs’ injuries (payment of MOC fees) are 

the direct result of that fraud. 

 The district court relied on Anza v. Ideal Steel Supply Corp., 547 

U.S. 451, 460 (2006), but misapplied Anza to the facts alleged here.  

A-39-40. In Anza, the Supreme Court held a RICO claim could not 

proceed because the connection between the fraud alleged and the harm 

suffered was too attenuated. Anza, who owned National Steel Supply, 

had defrauded the State of New York by not paying state sales tax on 

cash sales, which allegedly allowed National Steel to charge lower 

prices. Id. at 454. Ideal Steel, a competitor, brought a RICO claim based 

on predicate acts of mail and wire fraud, alleging it was harmed by loss 

of sales to National Steel due to its fraud.  

 The Supreme Court concluded the RICO claim could not proceed 

because the direct target of the fraud was not Ideal Steel, but New 

York. Id. at 458-59. In other words, Ideal Steel’s injuries were indirect 

and only derivative of National Steel’s fraud. National Steel’s price 

reductions could also be explained by factors other than National Steel 

not paying sales tax. Id. at 459. “The requirement of a direct causal 

connection is especially warranted where the immediate victims of an 
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alleged RICO violation [New York] can be expected to vindicate the 

laws by pursuing their own claims.” Id. at 460.  

 Here, the targets and “immediate victims” of ABIM’s RICO 

scheme are Plaintiffs and other internists. This lawsuit is likewise 

brought to “vindicate” internists and to pursue their “own claims.” 

There is a “direct causal connection” between internists, the targets of 

ABIM’s RICO scheme, and the MOC fees ABIM forces them to pay. And 

unlike New York in Anza, hospitals, insurers, and others are not 

injured by ABIM’s fraud.   

 The RICO scheme alleged by Plaintiffs is much more analogous to 

In re Avandia Mktg., 804 F.3d 633, 643-44 (3d Cir. 2015), in which this 

Court distinguished Anza. In Avandia, plaintiffs were third-party 

health insurance payers who alleged GlaxoSmithKline LLC (“GSK”) 

concealed the risks of its drug Avandia by manipulating data and 

scientific literature to increase sales. Id. at 636. GSK did so “with a 

marketing campaign designed to sway doctors and consumer 

confidence,” including advertisements and “the release of promotional 

materials to prescribing physicians.” Id. at 635. GSK moved to dismiss 

the RICO claim arguing that the doctors who actually prescribed the 
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drug broke the causal chain between GSK and the third-party payers 

because the doctors relied on GSK’s misrepresentations. Id. at 644-645.  

This Court affirmed the denial of GSK’s motion to dismiss, 

explaining that the presence of intermediaries did not destroy 

proximate cause because the third-party payers who paid for the drug 

were the targets and ‘“primary and intended victims of the scheme to 

defraud.’” Id. at 645, quoting Bridge v. Phoenix Bond & Indemnity, Co., 

553 U.S. 639, 650 (2008). The Court found that, unlike Anza, the third-

party payers had alleged “a sufficiently direct relationship between the 

defendant’s wrongful conduct and the plaintiff’s injury.” Avandia, 804 

F.3d at 643.   

This Court also found plaintiff had standing to pursue a RICO 

claim in Brokerage Concepts, 140 F.3d at 521. There, plaintiff BCI, a 

third-party administrator (“TPA”), alleged defendant United Healthcare 

had forced a drug store chain (“Gary’s”) to use United Healthcare’s TPA 

rather than BCI through a series of acts of extortion and fraud directed 

at Gary’s. 21  Proximate cause existed because, “BCI’s TPA relationship 

 
21  Judgment for plaintiff on the RICO claims was ultimately 
reversed because of failure to prove the predicate acts. Id. at 529. 
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with Gary’s was a direct target of the alleged scheme—indeed, 

interference with that relationship may well be deemed the linchpin of 

the scheme’s success.” Id. So too here, internists are the “direct target of 

the alleged scheme.”     

 “When a court evaluates a RICO claim for proximate causation, 

the central question it must ask is whether the alleged violation led 

directly to the plaintiff’s injuries.” Anza, 547 U.S. at 461. Here, ABIM’s 

fraudulent scheme led directly to Plaintiffs’ and other internists’ 

payment of MOC fees. History shows ABIM cannot generate fees if 

internists are free to refuse to buy MOC without losing hospital 

consulting and admitting privileges, reimbursement by insurers, 

employment by medical corporations and other employers, malpractice 

coverage, and other requirements of the practice of medicine. Internists 

are the targets of ABIM’s RICO scheme because they pay MOC fees; 

hospitals, insurers, and others do not.   

Furthermore, the harm here is not separate from the fraud, see 

Devon Drive Lionville, LP v. Parke Bancorp, Inc., 791 Fed. App’x 301, 

307 (3d Cir. 2019), because Plaintiffs’ injuries are not derivative of any 

other injury. Plaintiffs and other internists are the only persons harmed 
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by ABIM’s fraud. The hospitals, insurers, and others to whom the 

fraudulent representations were directed suffer no harm and have no 

reason to pursue claims against ABIM. 22 

Indeed, Plaintiffs and other internists are the only persons injured 

by ABIM’s fraudulent scheme, just as the third-party payers in Avandia 

were the only ones injured by GSK’s fraudulent scheme. See 804 F.3d at 

645. Because Plaintiffs’ RICO allegations satisfy the proximate cause 

requirements of Anza and this Circuit, the district court erred in 

concluding Plaintiffs did not have standing.  

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING THE 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT CLAIM.  

A. Standard Of Review. 

 This Court’s review of the dismissal of the unjust enrichment 

claim is plenary. See Broadcom Corp., 501 F.3d at 306. 

 B. Plaintiffs State A Claim For Unjust Enrichment. 

The elements of a claim for unjust enrichment in Pennsylvania 

are: “(1) a benefit was conferred on the defendant; (2) the defendant 

 
22   The district court was incorrect when it concluded, “The Amended 
Complaint contains no allegations that ABIM had any control over 
internist-requirements at the Plaintiffs’ employers.” A-40. Plaintiffs 
allege hospitals and others require internists to buy MOC because they 
believe ABIM’s misrepresentations. (¶¶ 6, 38, 39, 63, 131, 166). 
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retained that benefit; and (3) it would be inequitable for the defendant 

to retain the benefit without paying full value for it.“ Payne v. Lampe, 

665 F.3d 506, 520 (3rd Cir. 2011). “[T]here is not a rigid formula that 

can be applied in a determination of whether there has been unjust 

enrichment as that determination depends on the unique factual 

circumstances of each case.” Id. (internal quotation omitted).  

The district court held Plaintiffs’ allegations satisfied the first 

two elements but failed to sufficiently plead the third, concluding “it is 

not inequitable for ABIM to keep the benefit because it did not ‘force’ 

Plaintiffs to purchase MOC.” A-41.  Again, however, the court cited 

nothing in the Complaint to support its finding there was no forcing. To 

the contrary, Plaintiffs sufficiently allege that internists are, indeed, 

forced to purchase MOC. See pp. 5-7, 9, 38-39, supra.  

 The economic reality is that internists whose certifications are 

revoked by ABIM because they do not buy MOC are no longer eligible 

for admitting and other privileges, employment, insurance coverage, 

and other requirements for the successful practice of medicine. (¶¶ 37-

38, 39, 40, 77-78, 87, 88, 95-96, 98, 109, 155, 166). Internists prefer to 

buy products from others to keep current rather than being forced to 
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buy MOC from ABIM. (¶¶ 55, 66). They do not have that choice, 

however, because if they do not buy MOC, ABIM revokes their 

certifications. (¶¶ 26, 44, 49, 61). This inequitable conduct forces 

internists to buy a product they do not want, one they chose not to buy 

when ABIM originally sold it as a voluntary CPD product. (¶¶ 25-26).  

The district court ignored Plaintiffs’ well-pled allegations of 

forcing. It also disregarded Plaintiffs’ allegations that ABIM was 

unjustly enriched because it leveraged its monopoly power in 

certifications to charge inflated monopoly prices for MOC. (¶¶ 4, 64, 68). 

These allegations sufficiently plead that ABIM’s retention of the 

hundreds of millions of dollars in MOC fees “would be inequitable.” 

Payne, 665 F.3d at 520. The dismissal of Plaintiffs’ unjust enrichment 

claim should be reversed. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Plaintiffs-Appellants respectfully ask 

this Court to reverse the dismissal of their Amended Class Action 

Complaint.  
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